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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND
Southern Division

DAWN JENNINGS on behalf of herself and *
all others similarly situated

*

Plaintiff,
V. * Case No.: GJH-19-1895

DYNAMIC RECOVERY SOLUTIONSLLC,*
Defendant. *

* * * * * * * * * * * * *

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Dawn Jennings bringkis consumer protectiontgmn on behalf of herself and
all others similarly situatedlabing that Defendant DynamiceRovery Solutions LLC attempted
to collect a debt in violation dhe Fair Debt Collection Pracés Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. §
1692et seqECF No. 5. Currently pending before feurt is Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss
the Amended Complaint. ECF No. 6. No hearing is necesSagioc. R. 105.6 (D. Md. 2016).
For the following reasons, Defenda Motion to Dismiss the Amended Complaint is granted, in
part, and denied, in part.
. BACKGROUND!?

At some point prior to Makc 2019, Plaintiff incurred a defthe “Debt”) to FIA Card
Services, NA (“FIA Card Services”). ECF No. ®fThe agreement thateated the Debt “states

that it is governed by the laws thie State of Delaware (withoutgard to its conflict of laws

1 Unless otherwise stated, the background facts are tak@arPlaintiff's Amended Comlpint, ECF No. 5, and are
presumed to be true.
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principles) and by any apipable federal laws.Id. § 10. FIA Card Services subsequently sold
the Debt to Defendant or otherwise enlisiggfendant to collect thDebt on its behalfd. § 12.

By March 2019, Plaintiff had an accountdozce of $9,715.18, but any attempt to collect
the Debt through legalction was time-barredd. § 14; ECF No. 6-2 at2Regardless, on March
7, 2019, Defendant sent Plaintiff a letter (thetter”) in anattempt to collect the Debt,
indicating that Cavalry SPV LLC (“Cavalry”) was the currentreditor. ECF No. 5 { 13; ECF
No. 6-2 T 6-2. The Letter offerdtaintiff options to “resolveher account by paying an amount
less than the account balance. ECF No. 5 { 15; ECF No. 62Syeifically, the Letter
provided the following thee settlement offers:

1. Our office will allow you to resolve your account for $4,371.83.
Your payment is due on April 21, 2019. We are not obligated to
renew this offer. Upon receipt and clearance of this payment,
this account will be considered satisfied and closed. A
satisfaction letter wilbe issued or;

2. Our office will allow you to resolve your account for $4,857.59
in 2 payments of $2,428.80 and $2,428.79. Your first payment
is due on April 21, 2019. We are not obligated to renew this
offer. To comply with this offe payments shad be no more
than 30 days apart. Upon redegnd clearance of these two
payments, this account will be considered satisfied and closed.
A satisfaction letter will be issued or;

3. Our office will allow you to resolve your account for $5,343.35
in 3 payments of $1,335.84 and a final payment of $1,335.83.
Your first payment is duen April 21, 2019. We are not
obligated to renew this offer. To comply with this offer,
payments should be no more than 30 days apart. Upon receipt
and clearance of these fouryp@ents, this account will be
considered satisfied and closeA satisfaction letter will be

2 Pin cites to documents filed on the Court’s electraifiiigf system (CM/ECF) refer to the page numbers generated
by that system.

3 The Letter is not attached to the Amended Complhirttthe Amended Complaint quotes from the Letter, which
serves as the sole basis for the Complaint. Thu€ dliet can consider the Letter without converting the Motion
into a motion for summary judgmei@ee Philips v. Pitt Cty. Mem’l Hoss72 F.3d 176, 180 (4th Cir. 2009) (“In
reviewing a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal, we may properlyonsider documents attached to the complaint, as well as
those attached to the motion to dismiss, so longegsdte integral to the complaint and authentic.” (internal
citations omitted)).



issued].]

ECF No. 5 § 15; ECF No. 6-2 at 2. The Letteparately stated, “The law limits how long
[Plaintiff] can be sued on a debt. Becauséhefage of [Plaintiff’'s] debt, Cavalry and
[Defendant] cannot sue you for it and Cavalrd fibefendant] cannot repoit to any credit
reporting agency.” ECF No. 5 § 16; ECF No. 6-2 at 2.

After receiving this letter, Plaintiff filed a Complaint against Defendant in this Court on
June 27, 2019 on behalf of hefsahd a purported class of sianily situated individual$ ECF
No. 1. Plaintiff later amendatie Complaint on September B019. ECF No. 5. Plaintiff alleges
that the Letter violates 88 1692d, 1692e, 16924@)2e(10), and 1692f of the FDCPA because
it attempts to collect a time-barred debt withtaisclos[ing] or warn[ing] consumers that by
agreeing to the settlement offers, or by makirgartial payment, theyould be removing the
statute of limitations bar on the debts and wotilielotively be granting [Defndant] the ability to
sue to collect the debtdd. § 3. On September 23, 2019, Defamtdded a Motion to Dismiss
the Amended Complaint. ECF No?® @laintiff filed an opposibn on October 7, 2019, ECF No.
7, and Defendant filed a reply on October 14, 2019, ECF No. 8.
1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a)(2) rega only “a short and gin statement of the
claim showing that the pleadis entitled to relief.Hall v. DIRECTV, LLC846 F.3d 757, 765
(4th Cir. 2017). However, Federal Rule of CRrocedure 12(b)(6) proved for “the dismissal

of a complaint if it fails to state@aim upon which relief can be grante¥élencia v. Drezhlo

4 According to the Amended Complaint, this class coneistia]ll natural persons residing in the United States to
whom [Defendant] mailed a letter, substantially similar toLiitter sent to Plaintiff, in an attempt to collect a debt
allegedly incurred to FIA Card Services, NA, wherepbstcard was not returned@sdeliverable.” ECF No. 5

27.

5> Before Plaintiff filed the Amended Complaint, Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint. ECF No. 4.
This Motion will be denied as moot.
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Case No. RDB-12-237, 2012 WL 6562764, at *4 (D. Md. Dec. 13, 28I#ption to dismiss
under 12(b)(6) “test[s] the aduacy of a complaintPrelich v. Med. Res., Inc813 F. Supp. 2d
654, 660 (D. Md. 2011) (citinGerman v. Fox267 F. App’x 231, 233 (4th Cir. 2008)). Motions
to dismiss for failure tatate a claim do “not selve contests surroundingetfacts, the merits of
a claim, or the applicability of defense&d’ (citing Edwards v. City of Goldsbord 78 F.3d 231,
243 (4th Cir. 1999)). To overcome a Rule 12(p)ftbtion, a complaint nsi allege enough facts
to state a plausiblclaim for relief Ashcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). A claim is
plausible when “the plaintiff ples factual content that allowise Court to draw the reasonable
inference that the defendantiable for the misconduct allegedd.

In evaluating the sufficierycof the plaintiff's claimsthe Court accepts factual
allegations in the complaint as true and construem fin the light most favable to the plaintiff.
See Albright v. Oliver510 U.S. 266, 268 (1994)ambeth v. Bd. of Comm’rs of Davidson Cty.
407 F.3d 266, 268 (4th Cir. 2005). However, theptaint must contain more than “legal
conclusions, elements of a cause of actiod, lzare assertions dedaf further factual
enhancementRlemet Chevrolet, Ltd v. Consumeraffairs.com,, 1581 F.3d 250, 255 (4th Cir.
2009). The court should not grantnation to dismiss for failure tstate a claim unless “it is
clear that no relief could beagrted under any set of facts tbatuld be proved consistent with
the allegations.GE Inv. Private Placement Partners Il v. Park2d7 F.3d 543, 548 (4th Cir.
2001) (citingH.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Tel. Cd92 U.S. 229, 249-50 (1989)).

1. DISCUSSION

The FDCPA seeks “to eliminate abusive detfitection practices by debt collectors.” 15

U.S.C. 8 1692(e). “The Act ‘is strict liability statute and aonisumer only has to prove one

violation to trigger liability.” Long v. Pendrick Capital Partners Il, LL874 F. Supp. 3d 515,



531 (D. Md. 2019) (quotingkalwadi v. Risk Mgmt. Alts., In@36 F. Supp. 2d 492, 500 (D.
Md. 2004)). “To succeed on a FDCPA claim, a diffimust demonstrate #t ‘(1) the plaintiff
has been the object of collection activity arisirapifrconsumer debt, (2)d@tdefendant is a debt
collector as defined by the FDBPand (3) the defendant hasgaged in an act or omission
prohibited by the FDCPA.'Td. (quotingStewart v. Biermar859 F. Supp. 2d 754, 759-60 (D.
Md. 2012)). There is no disputeatithe Amended Complaint allegthat Plaintiff has been the
object of collection activity ariag from consumer debt and thiaéfendant is a debt collector.
Thus, the only issue is whether the Amendeth@aint sufficiently dieges conduct prohibited
by 88 1692d, 1692e, 1692¢e(2), 1692¢e(10), and 1692EdFEFCPA. For the reasons that follow,
the Court finds that the Amendi€omplaint sufficiatly alleges conduct prohibited by 88 1692e,
1692e(2), and1692¢e(10), but not 88 1692d or 1692f.
A. Section 1692d
Section 1692d of the FDCPA prohibits afi collector” from “@gag[ing] in any
conduct the natural consequendavhich is to harass, op@g or abuse any person in
connection with the collection of a deb15 U.S.C. § 1692d. The statute provides a non-
exhaustive list of prohited conduct, including:
(1) The use or threat of use of woice or other criminal means to
harm the physical person, repiuta, or property of any person.
(2) The use of obscene or profane language or language the natural
consequence of which is &buse the hearer or reader.
(3) The publication of a lisof consumers who lalgedly refuse to
pay debts, except to a consumer reporting agency or to persons
meeting the requirements of §ea 1681a(f) or 1681b(3) of [the
FDCPA].
(4) The advertisement for sale afyadebt to coerce payment of the
debt.
(5) Causing a telephone to ring orgaging any person in telephone

conversation repeatedly or canibusly with intent to annoy,
abuse, or harass any person at the called number.



(6) Except as provided in seati 1692b of [the FDCPA], the
placement of telephone calls iaut meaningful disclosure of
the caller’s identity.

Id. 88 1692d(1)—(6).

Here, Plaintiff does not allegkat Defendant used or tlatened violence, used obscene
or profane language, published lhame, advertised for salethie Debt, or made any telephone
calls related to the Debt. Rather, she allegdg that Defendant maitea letter offering to
resolve the time-barred Debt without disclosingt ttertain actions by PHiff could potentially
result in Defendant’s renewed ability to sue far Debt, and she conclusively states that this is
behavior “the natural consequenof which was to harass, opgseor abuse the Plaintiff in
connection with the collection of a deb&2eECF No. 5 1 13-17, 42. Plaintiff makes no
argument, however, as to how the Letter constitutes harassment, oppression, or abuse, and the
Court can conceive of no theory under whichrglg letter that containso threats or profane
language could rise to ttevel of a § 1692d violatiorsee Jefferson v. [8et Portfolio
Servicing, Inc.Case No. PWG-15-2031, 2016 WL 3551835, at *5 (D. Md. June 30, 2016)
(finding that vague allegations of several dunmogces that misrepresented the status of the
sender as a creditor did not violate § 1692(dgghy-Fernandez v. Bayview Loan Servicing,
LLC, Case No. 8:15-CV-2380-T-33TGW, 2016 WA9633, at *7 (M.D. Fla. Feb. 3, 2016)
(finding that allegations that debt collector starie piece of mail onca month” that did not
contain abusive language and did not threaten debtor or contdat’slériends, family, or co-
workers were insufficient to state a clafion harassment under § 169@tthe FDCPA). Thus,

Plaintiff's 8 1692d claim is dismissed.

B. Sections 1692e, 1692¢(2), and 1692¢e(10)



Section 1692e prohibits a “debt collector’frasing “any false, deceptive, or misleading
representation or means in conmattwith the collection of any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692e. This
includes “[t]he false representai of ... the character, amount,legal status of any debt,” and
“[t]he use of any false representation or deceptieans to collect or attempt to collect any debt
or to obtain informatiorwoncerning a consumeind. 88 1692e(2), (10). “ThEourth Circuit has
adopted the ‘leaspbphisticated consumer’ stdard to determine if 8ection 1692e violation has
occurred,” meaning a misrepresentation is acbtmsao long as it wodlmislead the “least
sophisticated consumeiStewart 859 F. Supp. 2d at 761 (cititgnited States v. Nat'l Fin.
Servs., InG.98 F.3d 131, 135-36 (4th Cir. 1996)). “[T]he tissthe capacity of the statement to
mislead; evidence of actual deception is unnecesddat'l'Fin. Servs., InG.98 F.3d at 139.
Misleading statements are actionable when thifyence a consumertecision about “how to
respond to efforts to collect the detRdwell v. Palisades Acquisition XVI, LLZ82 F.3d 119,
127 (4th Cir. 2014).

Plaintiff contends that the Letter viodstthese provisions of the FDCPA because
Defendant failed to disclose that accepting onimef_etter’s three settlement offers or making a
partial payment on the Debt could restart tlagusé of limitations undedelaware law, thus
exposing Plaintiff to a potential lawsuit. &pposition, Defendant contends that Maryland law
applies and because Maryland law providesdahainsumer debt cannot be revived under any
circumstances, it complied with its obligations under the FDCPA.

As a preliminary matter, thearties are correct in their respective interpretations of
Delaware and Maryland law. Praiff is correct that under Delare law, acknowledgment of a
debt, a promise to pay a time-barred debt, paréial payment toward a time-barred debt can

remove the statute of litations on that debt undeertain circumstanceSee Snyder v.



Baltimore Trust Cq.532 A.2d 624, 626 (Del. Super. Ct. 198@a{img that “a clear, distinct and
unequivocal acknowledgement of a subsisting daldta recognition of an obligation to pay it”
can remove a case from the gtatof limitations (quotindlojro v. Sikorski267 A.2d 603, 607
(Del. Super. Ct. 1970) (interhquotation marks omitted)))dart v. Deshong8 A.2d 85, 87 (Del.
1939) (stating that “when the acknowledgmenpant payment is direct and unconditional and
the surrounding circumstances are such that thénhglies a promise to pay, then the bar of the
Statute [of limitations] is lied”). And Defendant is ccect that under Maryland law,
“[n]otwithstanding any other provn of law, any payment towdy written or oral affirmation
of, or any other activity on the detbtat occurs after the expirati of the statute of limitations
applicable to the consumer debt collectioticacdoes not revive @xtend the limitations
period.” Mb. CoDE ANN., CTs. & JuD. PrRoC. 8§ 5-1202(b)(2).

The Court must determine the applicable lamgshe forum state’s choice of law rules.
See Baker v. Antwerpen Motorcars L8007 F. Supp. 2d 386, 389 n.13 (D. Md. 2011). “Under
Maryland choice of law rules, Mg@and courts generally enforce choice of law provisions in
contracts,’Jos. A. Bank Clothiers, Inc. v. J.A.B.-Columbia, |@ase No. ELH-15-3075, 2017
WL 75746, at *2 (D. Md. Jan. 6, 2017), unless the apfibn of the chosen law “is contrary to a
fundamental policy of MarylandNat'l Glass, Inc. v. J.C. Penney Props., |36 Md. 606,
612 (1994)). Thus, as dictated by the choice wfpeovision in the agreement covering the Debt,
Delaware’s substantive law will apgplo the issues in this case.

Maryland courts, however, have also “follavihe general rule that the statute of
limitations of the forum state applies even wiieat state’s choice d@w rules require that
another state’s substantive law be appli&h&rwin-Williams Co. v. ARTRA Grp., Int25 F.

Supp. 2d 739, 756 (D. Md. 2001) (citiMprley v. Cohen610 F. Supp. 798, 827 (D. Md.



1985)). “This is true even when, as here,dbetract explicitly ircludes a choice of law
provision specifying thanut-of-forum law applies to the agreement, because the statute of
limitations is a procedural, rath#tan a substantive, issuéd. at 757;see also Akinmeji v. Jos
A. Bank Clothiers, In¢.399 F. Supp. 3d 466, 472 (D. Md. 2019) (“Maryland courts almost
universally view issues pertaining the statute of limitations ggocedural, not substantive.”).

This leaves the Court with the questionmdfether the effect of an acknowledgement or
partial payment of a debt on the viability ofl@bt collection action is procedural because it
implicates the statute of limitations, and is therefaubject to Maryland law, or substantive, and
is therefore subject to Delaware law. “Uniaéing that determirieon presupposes that a
discernable purpose lies behindiyland’s substantive-procedurdichotomy, but one would be
hard pressed to find a cohetestatement of purpose in Maryland’s choice of law cases.”
Standard Reserve Holdings, Ltd. v. Dowrnégse No. 24—-C—-04-0661, 2004 WL 3316264, at *3
(Md. Cir. Ct. 2004)seeRichard W. BourneModem Maryland Conflicts: Backing into the
Twentieth Century One Hauch at a Tijr@d8 U. Balt. L. Rev. 71, 81 (1993) (“Maryland’s courts
have failed to come up with a rational tkstanalyzing cases dhe borderline between
substance and procedure.”).the end, however, @&ppears that langoverning “real-world”
activity are characterized aghstantive, while laws governiragcess to a forum’s courts are
proceduralSee Downey2004 WL 3316264, at *6 (citingauch v. Connqr295 Md. 120, 125
(1983) and Raleigh C. Minor,dBIFLICT OFLAWS 8§ 205 (1901)).

Here, the application of the procedural-subst@ dichotomy is a dficult question that
the parties largely gloss over. On one handyes of a debt colleiton action due to the
acknowledgement or partial paynterf a debt could be frameguirely as a qualification of the

statute of limitations for thosactions, therefore warranting aopedural characterization. On the



other hand, whether acknowledgemenpartial payment of a dewould reopen a debtor to
legal liability for that debt surely affects theatavorld activity of delrs; indeed, if debtors
knew that they were likely to make themselvamerable to suit by making a payment toward a
debt, they would be less likely to make that pagtrthan if they knew they would be protected
from legal action. The Court determines thatlglier characterization is a more accurate and
honest characterization of the patial for revival of a debt collgion action, and so it concludes
that it is a substantive matteThus, it will apply Delaware law in this caSe.

Having determined that an acknowledgmenpantial payment of the Debt could have
revived the statute of limitatioren the Debt, the Court must naletermine whether a letter
offering options for settling a timiearred debt violates the FDCPA where it states that it cannot
sue for the Debt but does not advise the constima¢acknowledgment die debt or a partial
payment could restart the statofdimitations on the debt. The Fourth Circuit has not addressed
this particular question, but adst one district court within the Fourth Circuit has determined an
allegation of this sort of conduis a plausible FDCPA violatioisee Alston v. Midland Credit
Mgmt., Inc, Case No. 8:18-cv-14-AMQ, 2018 WL 3309725, at *3 (D.S.C. July 3, 2018)
(denying a motion to dismiss wleethe plaintiffs alleged thélhe defendant violated 88 1692e,
1692e(2), and 1692e(10) by failingddvise the plaintiffs that a gal payment of a debt subject

to collection could restart the statute of litidas clock, thus expasgy the plaintiffs to a

6 This conclusion is bolstered by the decisiosiimpson v. Midland Credit Mgmt., In847 F. Supp. 3d 538 (D.
Idaho 2018), where the District ofdldo considered a case with remarkadtyilar facts. There, the agreement
covering the debt contained a choice of law provision staiiat Nevada law governdite credit agreement. 347 F.
Supp. 3d at 545. Despite sitting in Idaho, the Court concluded that Nevada law, which provided that a partial
payment on a time-barred debt did not revive the statute of limitations, applied in théd.calshough the Court
dispensed with any choice-of-law analysis, its conclusi@igests that it viewed the matter as substantive, rather
than procedural; otherwise, logic suggests it would have applied Idaho’s law as a procedural matte

" Defendant contends that even if maliis a substantive matter, applicatmfrDelaware law would be contrary to
Maryland public policy. At the motion to dismiss stage, however, the Court is not prepared to conclude that
application of Delaware law would be contrary to Marylantlic policy as a matter of law and therefore declines
to make that assessment at this time.
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potential lawsuit on the debt). Courts in otherwits have also held & this sort of conduct
violates the FDCPASee Pantoja v. Portfolio Recovery Assocs.,,l8%2 F.3d 679, 685-86 (7th
Cir. 2017) (granting summary judgent to plaintiff where defelant’s dunning letter failed to
warn debtor about the risk tafsing the protection of the relant statute ofimitations);Pierre v.
Midland Credit Mgmt., In¢.Case No. 16 C 2895, 2018 WL 723278, at *7 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 5,
2018) (same)Smothers v. Midland Credit Mgmt., In€ase No. 16-2202—-CM, 2016 WL
7485686, at *5 (D. Kan. Dec. 29, 2016) (same).

Although none of these cases are bindingQbert finds their @asoning persuasive.
“[A] debtor who accepts the offered termssettlement [in a dunningtter] will, by doing so,
waive his otherwise absolute defense under titatst of limitations. Onlghe rarest consumer-
debtor will recognize this dangeiPanoja 852 F.3d at 684. “[A]n unsophisticated consumer
debtor who makes the first paynmiem who promises to makepartial payment is much worse
off than he would have been Witut taking either steff. he then fails or refuses to pay further,
he will face a potential lawsuit ... ifaer for] the original amount dhe debt or just the smaller
amount of the settlement offeritlier way, the debtor will be muakorse off” than if he had not
responded to the dunning letter and retained thelate protection of thstatute of limitations.
Id. at 685. “Silence about that significant riskaging the protection of thstatute of limitations
renders [a debt collector’s]’s dunnitefter misleading and deceptivé]’, because it would
certainly influence a debtor’s demn about “how to respond toetkefforts to collect the debt,”
see Powe]l782 F.3d at 127.

Here, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant sarttebt-collection lettevffering options for
settling a time-barred debt anatsng that it could not sue forgtDebt without also advising her

that acknowledging the Debt or kiag a partial payment would eitively restart the statute of
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limitations. Thus, she hasated a plausible claim that fBadant violated 88 1692e, 1692¢(2),
and 1692¢e(10) of the FDCPA because “[t]he lsaphisticated consumer most certainly would
not be aware that making aypmaent could make the debt jedilly enforceable—particularly
when the collector tells the consumer thatlive limits how long she calpe sued and that the
collector will not sue.’'See Smother2016 WL 7485686, at *See also Panoja852 F.3d at
685—86;Pierre, 2018 WL 723278, at *7Alston 2018 WL 3309725, at *3. Accordingly,
Defendant’s Motion to Dismigs denied as to Plaintiff§8 1692e, 1692e(2), and 1692e(10)
claims.
C. Section 1692f

Section 1692f prohibits a “debollector” from using “unfaior unconscionable means to
collect or attempt to collect amebt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692f. “The ste&e does not define ‘unfair or
unconscionable,” but it does provide a non-exhaadist of conduct that viates the section.”
Hauk v. LVNV Funding, LLZ749 F. Supp. 2d 358, 366 (D. Md. 2010). This conduct includes
“[t]he collection of any amount. unless such amount is exprgssuthorized by the agreement
creating the debt or paitted by law” and “[c]ausing chargdo be made to any person for
communications by concealment of the tpuepose of the commuation.” 18 U.S.C. 88
1962f(1), (5). “Significantly, howear, courts have limited § 1692fsohibitive reach to conduct
that is ‘separate and distihfitom other FDCPA violationand thus dismiss § 1692f claims
where a plaintiff fails to alilge any misconduct beyond that whigblates the other provisions
of the FDCPA asserted in the complair@doke v. Carrington Mortg. Sery€ase No. TDC-
18-205, 2018 WL 6323116, at *6 (D. Md. Dec. 3, 2018) (citiagibach v. Biermarb28 F.
App’x 297, 304 (4th Cir. 2013)xee also Archie v. Nagle & Zaller, P,@ase No. 18-1979,

2019 WL 5212213, at *1 n.1 (4th Cir. Oct. 16, 2019).

12



Here, Plaintiff's § 1692f claim is idenatto her 88 1692e, 1692¢e(2), and 1692¢e(10)
claims. Specifically, Plaitiff alleges that Defedant’s Letter violate@ 1692f by attempting to
collect a time-barred debt withodisclosing that agreeing to teettlement offers or making a
partial payment would remove the statutdimitations protectin. Aside from stating
conclusively that this conducbnstituted “unfair and unconscidsia means to collect a debt,”
Plaintiff makes no argument as to how this aarids “separate andstinct” from the conduct
covered by her 8§ 1692e, 1692¢e(2), and 1692e(ahs! Accordingly, Plaitiff's § 1692f claim
is dismissed.

V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Defant’s Motion to Dismiss igranted, in part, and denied

in part. A separate Order shall issue.

Date: February 27,2020 /sl

GEORGE J. HAZEL
United States District Judge
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